ORIGINAL

RECEIVED

DEC 15 2014

30 Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Oconee County

Alexander S. Macaulay, Circuit Court Judge

---

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

TIMOTHY R. WIRTZ,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2013-002328

---

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

LARA M. CAUDY  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

## STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

1.

Whether the court erred by admitting Appellant's written statements to law enforcement because they were not freely and voluntarily given considering Appellant's mental state, his prior work as an informant for the sheriff's office, the length of his detention, the deception used by law enforcement, and the promises made by Sergeant McMahan where Appellant testified that Sergeant McMahan told him "he could help me out," "implied I would be released," and "implied that [charges] wouldn't be brought against me" since under a totality of the circumstances Appellant statements were induced by a promise of leniency?

2.

Whether the court erred by admitting an audio recording of telephone calls Appellant made the night of his arrest since the probative value of the evidence was substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice where the telephone conversations involved admissions of criminal conduct unrelated and unnecessary to the jury's determination of guilt in this case?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

An Oconee County Grand Jury indicted Appellant at the June 11, 2012 term of General Sessions for grand larceny, kidnapping, first degree burglary, armed robbery, and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. R. 496 – R. 503. His case was called to trial on October 14, 2013 before the Honorable Alexander S. Macaulay, and a jury. R. 1. E. Delane Rosemond represented Appellant and David Rhys Wagner was the assistant solicitor. R. 1.

On October 18, 2013, the jury found Appellant guilty of all charges. R. 481, ll. 2-25. Judge Macaulay sentenced Appellant to thirty years imprisonment for first degree burglary, five years consecutive for possession of a weapon during a violent crime, twenty-five years current for armed robbery, ten years concurrent for grand larceny, and twenty-five years concurrent for kidnapping. R. 490, l. 3 – 491, l. 16.

This appeal follows.

## ARGUMENT

1.

The court erred by admitting Appellant's written statements to law enforcement because they were not freely and voluntarily given considering Appellant's mental state, his prior work as an informant for the sheriff's office, the length of his detention, the deception used by law enforcement, and the promises made by Sergeant McMahan where Appellant testified that Sergeant McMahan told him "he could help me out," "implied I would be released," and "implied that [charges] wouldn't be brought against me" since under a totality of the circumstances Appellant statements were induced by a promise of leniency.

### **Jackson v. Denno<sup>1</sup> Hearing**

#### **A. Testimony**

Sergeant David McMahan, an investigator with the Oconee County Sheriff's Office, testified that on February 11, 2012, he was called out to Eric Bush's residence in regards to "a burglary that had just taken place."<sup>2</sup> Supp. R. 5, l. 18 – 6, l. 6. McMahan said, "[W]e determined there was forced entry into the home. The victim, Mr. Bush, was asleep at the time. He was, woke up and found a person in his room. He was tied up and held at gunpoint." Numerous firearms, ammunition, "related gun parts," laptops, billfolds, and credit cards were stolen. R. 6, ll. 15-25.

McMahan testified that after he responded to the home, he instructed Bush to call his credit card company and cancel the stolen cards. According to McMahan, the credit card company told Bush that his card had just been used within the last thirty to forty-five

---

<sup>1</sup> 378 U.S. 368 (1964)

<sup>2</sup> The supplemental transcript refers to the pretrial hearing held on October 14-15, 2013.

minutes at the Bountyland Quick Stop in Westminster. McMahan explained that after he finished his investigation at Bush's residence, he immediately went to the Bountyland store in Westminster. Once there, McMahan claimed he was able to view video from the store's four security cameras. The security cameras captured footage of the man using Bush's credit card. According to McMahan, he was able to identify this individual as Appellant, who then became a suspect in the burglary. R. 7, l. 4 – 8, l. 25.

McMahan testified that Appellant's name also came "up through other sources," which led McMahan to "direct [his] full attention to [Appellant]." R. 9, ll. 1-6. He explained that he arranged a meeting with Appellant at Tabor Baptist Church after "some of [Appellant's] acquaintances told [Appellant] that [McMahan] wanted to talk to him." According to McMahan, Appellant arrived at the church on February 14, 2012 between four and five o'clock with Carrie Tyner. The two were driving a 1999 Ford Taurus that belonged to Appellant and his wife, Amanda Wirtz. R. 9, l. 11 – 10, l. 8; R. 39, ll. 1-14.

McMahan claimed that Appellant "agreed to come to the Sheriff's Office and discuss the case." R. 10, ll. 9-12. Before driving Appellant to the sheriff's office, McMahan testified that he read Appellant his Miranda<sup>3</sup> rights at 5:08 pm in the back seat of a Tahoe owned by the sheriff's office. According to McMahan, Appellant initialed by each line and signed the bottom of the waiver form. R. 12, l. 1 – 14, l. 11. McMahan admitted that Appellant seemed tired, but claimed Appellant did not appear to be under the influence of drugs or alcohol because he was "coherent" and "responded as a normal person would" respond to McMahan's questions. R. 14, l. 21 – 15, l. 8.

---

<sup>3</sup> Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436 (1966)

Once the pair arrived at the sheriff's office, McMahan took Appellant to an interview room in the investigations division. McMahan said that when the two first began discussing the case, only Appellant and McMahan were in the room. However, once Appellant began talking about the burglary, McMahan asked Lieutenant Gentry Hawk to join them. McMahan and Appellant discussed the fact that Appellant was seen on the security video at the Bountyland Quick Stop and that Appellant was found in possession of two of the stolen firearms.<sup>4</sup> R. 16, l. 9 – 17, l. 17. After some initial discussions, McMahan testified Appellant agreed to give a written statement. While Appellant was writing out his statement, McMahan said he and Lieutenant Hawk left the room. R. 17, l. 21 – 18, l. 21.

McMahan generically claimed he did not offer Appellant any hope of a reward or leniency if Appellant gave a statement. He also denied that any promises or threats were made to Appellant. R. 18, l. 25 – 19, l. 18. McMahan testified that prior to Appellant giving this written statement, he reviewed with Appellant the Miranda rights that were listed at the top of the "Voluntary Statement" form. R. 19, l. 22 – 20, l. 14. The start time listed on the statement was 6:30 pm and the end time was listed as 9:05 pm. However, McMahan claimed that the end time was a typographical error and it only took Appellant approximately thirty minutes to complete this statement. R. 23, l. 10 – 24, l. 13.

McMahan testified that after Appellant gave this first statement, he decided to write a second statement because "he left something out." This second statement started at 7:37 pm and ended at 7:40 pm. McMahan again generically claimed that he did not promise

---

<sup>4</sup> McMahan testified that two of the stolen shotguns were found in Appellant's car when he arrived at Tabor Baptist Church on February 14, 2012. According to McMahan, Carrie Tyner handed him the firearms. R. 53, ll. 10-25.

Appellant anything, hold out any hope of leniency, or threaten or coerce Appellant to give this second statement. R. 25, l. 20 – 26, l. 24.

After Appellant gave these two written statements, McMahan testified that Appellant made several telephone calls to attempt to get some of the stolen firearms back. McMahan said, “Well, the phone calls were a result of Mr. Wirtz [Appellant] being cooperative and he - - I told him that these guns meant a lot to the victim, that they were cherished items, and it would be a great opportunity for us to get these guns back if he could help us find out where all of them went to, places wherever they were distributed. So he was agreeing to try to make some phone call contacts to try to get these guns back.” McMahan claimed that he did not promise Appellant anything to persuade him to help get the guns back. R. 29, ll. 20-23. The phone calls were made from Appellant’s phone and were recorded by the sheriff’s office.

On cross-examination, McMahan denied that he told Appellant “if you help me out, then I will let you go.” McMahan admitted that on the recording of the telephone calls Appellant made that night, Appellant told various people that “I’m going to get out of here, I’m about to get out of here” and “the only thing that Mr. McMahan was wanting was the gun back and we’ll all be cleared.” However, McMahan testified that Appellant was “saying whatever he can to get the guns back,” and that he did not think Appellant actually thought he was going home that night. R. 45, l. 11 – 46, l. 12.

McMahan agreed with defense counsel that he “exerted some influence over [Appellant] to get [Appellant] to get the guns back.” He said, “I told him it would be nice if we could get the guns back.” R. 51, ll. 16-24. McMahan denied that he told Appellant, “all we want is the guns and everybody is cleared.” However, he did admit he told Appellant,

“The people that he was calling, I made the statement that the guns can be given back and that’s all I want is the guns back in reference to the people who had possession of the guns at the time, not Time Wirtz [Appellant].” R. 54, ll. 11-24. McMahan testified that he never charged anyone with possession of the stolen firearms. R. 54, l. 25 – 55, l. 1.

McMahan also recognized that Appellant attempted to make several drug deals over the telephone. However, McMahan claimed he did not know Appellant had previously worked as an informant for the sheriff’s office and had been paid to purchase drugs. Despite the fact that Appellant had previously received compensation from the sheriff’s office for his work as an informant, McMahan claimed that he did not think it was reasonable for Appellant to think he would receive leniency from McMahan that night in exchange for cooperating and providing the officers with a written statement. R. 50, l. 7 – 51, l. 15.

At no time during the interrogation or subsequent telephone calls did the officers tell Appellant that he was under arrest or that they already had warrants for his arrest. Appellant was not placed under arrest until 12:47 am on February 15, 2012, meaning he had been in police custody for at least seven and a half hours before he was booked at the local detention center. R. 48, l. 13 – 50, l. 1.

Additionally, McMahan admitted that he knew Appellant “ha[d] been on meth for a long time . . . [s]everal years is what I’ve been told.” However, McMahan claimed that he did not know Appellant had used methamphetamine on February 14, 2012, the day of the interview. He stated, “I have no way of knowing that.” McMahan also claimed that he did not remember whether he asked Appellant if he had used methamphetamine that day. R. 52, l. 19 – 53, l. 9.

Lieutenant Gentry Hawk of the Oconee County Sheriff's Office was the next to testify. He explained that he was present during the interrogation of Appellant on February 14, 2012. Hawk testified that after McMahan reviewed with Appellant the Miranda rights that were listed at the top of the voluntary statement form and Appellant initialed the form, he and McMahan exited the room while Appellant wrote out his statement. When Appellant finished writing his statement, McMahan and Hawk signed the statement as witnesses. R. 60, l. 18 – 62, l. 21. Hawk claimed in a conclusory fashion that nobody in his presence promised Appellant any leniency, held out any hope of a reward, or threatened Appellant to get him to give law enforcement a statement. R. 62, l. 22 – 63, l.

Hawk testified that Casey Bowling and Tyrel Woodring, who were narcotic officers for the Oconee County Sheriff's Office, also sat in on part of the interview and were present when Appellant called various individuals in an attempt to get the firearms back. He explained, "[T]hey were there because it was in the drug world and they had some connections with people that, from what I understand, were involved in the case." Hawk claimed that neither Bowling nor Woodring promised Appellant anything. However, he admitted that he "was in and out" of the interview room and was not present during the entire interview or the entire time Appellant was making the telephone calls. R. 63, ll. 3-24.

Hawk also claimed Appellant did not appear under the influence of drugs or alcohol that evening. He testified, "[H]e appeared to be coherent. He was answering our questions without hesitation. He seemed to know exactly what was going on." R. 64, ll. 3-18.

Defense counsel then called Officer Brandon Long of the Oconee County Sheriff's Office to the stand. Long, a member of the Narcotics and Vice Division, testified that Appellant signed up to work as an informant for the narcotics division on January 20, 2011,

approximately a year before this burglary and Appellant's subsequent interview. Long explained that Appellant made two controlled purchases and he was paid money in exchange for his assistance. Long said that Appellant provided reliable information and that at least one of these purchases resulted in an arrest. R. 87, l. 19 – 88, l. 25. On cross-examination, Long explained that the narcotics division assisted Sergeant McMahan in locating Appellant, "but that was about the extent of it." He claimed he did not make Appellant any promises in exchange for his cooperation and said, "I never even talked to him [Appellant] about this case here." R. 89, l. 13 – 90, l. 2.

Appellant testified that around 11:00 am on the morning of February 14, 2012, the day he ultimately gave law enforcement the written statements, he went to Shane Elliott's apartment. He stayed at Elliott's apartment until around 1:00 pm and then went to Carrie Tyner's grandmother's house. Appellant testified that he purchased five Xanax pills from Tyner that afternoon and immediately took three of them. In addition to regularly ingesting Xanax, Appellant explained that he also regularly injected methamphetamine. He said that on the day of the interview he had been up for six to seven days on methamphetamine. Appellant testified, "I was pretty tired. I would say meth kind of makes you crazy, makes you very unpredictable." R. 91, l. 5 – 93, l. 8.

Sometime that afternoon, Tyner asked Appellant if he was willing to go with her to sell some methamphetamine and Appellant agreed. Appellant said that as the two were driving, Tyner, who had been using Appellant's cell phone, "looked at [Appellant] and said, do you realize you may have warrants on you?" Appellant explained that Tyner then told him "she wanted to meet with Tyrel Woodring of the Narcotics Unit at Tabor Church" and

that Tyner ended up driving Appellant to the church. Appellant testified that “[t]o [his] recollection” they arrived at the church around 2:30 or 3:00 pm. R. 93, l. 9 – 94, l. 4.

Once at the church, Appellant explained, “I was approached by Tyrel Woodring first, he came up to the vehicle. I spoke with Tyrel for a few minutes. He told me [that he] was a narcotics agent. I’d never met Tyrel before. Mr. McMahan approached me, and while I was speaking with McMahan, Carrie Tyner opened the trunk of the car [which belonged to Appellant’s wife] and took out two shotguns.” Tyner handed the firearms to McMahan. McMahan then spoke to Appellant “for a few minutes about a possible burglary” and ultimately “asked [Appellant] if [he] would come back to the Sheriff’s Department” to be interrogated. Once at the sheriff’s office, Appellant was placed in an interrogation room. Appellant explained that he “was very high” and did not remember McMahan advising him of his Miranda rights. However, Appellant identified his signature at the bottom of the waiver of rights form. R. 94, l. 5 – 95, l. 21.

Appellant testified that “it was just Mr. McMahan at first” in the interview room, but then “[t]here were officers in and out. I believe - - I know Casey Bowling was in there at one time. Mr. Hawk, I do remember seeing Mr. Hawk. I believe Scott Arnold was in there. It was kind of an all-day event. There was people in and out, in and out, in and out.” R. 95, l. 22 – 96, l. 14.

Appellant said that he told McMahan that he “did know some about the burglary.” He testified, “I believe I told him [McMahan] that I knew that Chad Bush had been implicated in it. I told him that I knew where it was actually planned at because I was present when this burglary was planned . . . We were at Chad Bush’s mother’s house . . . in the basement. There was Gene Poole, Greg Bates, me, Timothy Wirtz; Carrie Tyner, Heath

Bates, Chad Bush, Gary Smith, Amanda Wirtz. I want to say that's all, but there were a lot of people there that night." The group discussed breaking into Chad Bush's brother's house. R. 96, l. 15 – 97, l. 22.

Appellant explained that after he told McMahan this information, **"Mr. McMahan informed me that he needed to place someone at the scene.** He needed some help because he thought it was wrong what Chad had done to his brother. From talking to Mr. McMahan he really does not like Mr. Bush. **So he told me since I had been working for the police and I had been working for Brandon Long, he asked me if I would make a statement for him.**" (emphasis added). R. 97, l. 23 – 98, l. 6. Appellant then gave a written statement. R. 98, ll. 7-8.

Appellant testified that he gave a statement "[b]ecause Mr. McMahan informed me that he needed to place someone at the scene. **He told me he could help me out on, with the fact of the guns being in the car [at Tabor Baptist Church]. He told me he needed to place someone at the scene of the burglary.**" R. 98, ll. 13-18 (emphasis added). Appellant said further, **"He [McMahan] implied I would be released. He implied that it [criminal charges] wouldn't be brought against me."** R. 98, ll. 19-21 (emphasis added).

Additionally, in regards to the telephone calls Appellant made after he gave the written statements, Appellant testified, "I really don't have a recollection of making the phone calls in the state I was in. But I would assume from prior knowledge that my phone was wired by the Narcotics Unit the way that they had, the way we had made buys in the past." Appellant said he set up a drug deal that night "[b]ecause Casey Bowling had come in and spoken to me about setting up a drug buy because they were attempting to bust Shane Elliott." R. 99, ll. 4-13. In exchange for his help setting up the drug deal, Appellant testified

that he expected, “payment and release.” R. 99, ll. 14-16 (emphasis added). During one of the telephone conversations in which Appellant set up a drug buy, Appellant told the person on the other line that he would be there in twenty minutes. Appellant testified that he got this idea from Casey Bowling and McMahan. However, he was never released that night. R. 99, ll. 17-24.

Appellant later testified that he made the telephone calls “[b]ecause Mr. McMahan told me that if I could get the guns back, I could go home.” R. 101, ll. 7-10. He also explained that at the time he gave the written statements and made the telephone calls, he did not know law enforcement already had warrants for his arrest. R. 101, ll. 11-13. Moreover, Appellant testified that when he had worked for Brandon Long in the past, Long had paid him money and helped him with a probation violation. R. 101, l. 19 – 102, l. 5.

Furthermore, Appellant testified that after listening to the tapes of the telephone conversations, he remembers telling Shane Elliott “that I needed to get some guns back, that it was gonna clear everybody’s name and I would be released.” He also said that he spoke to Carrie Tyner and “acknowledged many times that she was gonna pick me up and I would be leaving soon.” Appellant said that at the time he believed this to be true. R. 102, l. 19 – 103, l. 11.

Appellant explained that Casey Bowling ultimately arrested him “well after midnight” and took him to the detention center. He said, “I actually argued with Casey Bowling for about five to ten minutes about why I was being arrested.” Appellant testified that he argued with Bowling “[b]ecause **they had promised me I was going home. I’d set up drug deals, I had tried to get guns back. I’d just done what they told me to. I had no knowledge I was gonna be arrested.**” R. 103, l. 12 – 104, l. 1 (emphasis added).

Again, Appellant testified that he gave a written statement that night because McMahan “asked me to” and because “I was told that I was going home.” R. 105, ll. 4-9.

On cross-examination by the state, Appellant testified that he was not present at the scene of the burglary and armed robbery on February 11, 2012. R. 106, ll. 20-24. Appellant explained that McMahan told him about the burglary and “asked me to place myself at the scene.” He said McMahan told him the details “such as the door being busted, things like that.” R. 107, l. 24 – 108, l. 8. When questioned about the discrepancy between his written statement where he said the burglary was planned in his car and his testimony that the burglary was planned in Chad Bush’s mother’s basement, Appellant confirmed the planning took place in the basement and testified, “I had also been up six to seven days and taking narcotics pills when I wrote this [referring to the statement].” R. 108, ll. 8-23.

Furthermore, Appellant testified that he “do[es] not deny using the credit card, I never have.” R. 111, ll. 19-22. He explained that Chad Bush gave him the credit card because “Mr. Bush owed me \$80 for meth and he contacted me and said he had my money.” R. 118, ll. 5-9. Appellant said he met Chad Bush at the Bountyland and “Mr. Bush told me that I could get my money out of the ATM machine, he was parked beside the building. I told him that I needed some fuel. Mr. Bush said that I could get fuel and get the rest of the money out of the ATM machine.” After Appellant met Chad Bush by the side of the building, he pumped gas, and then went inside to use the card at the ATM, but the PIN number Bush had provided did not work. R. 119, l. 18 – 121, l. 14.

## **B. Arguments**

Defense counsel argued that under the totality of the circumstances Appellant’s statements were not freely and voluntarily given because of law enforcement’s deception,

promises of leniency, exertion of improper influence upon Appellant, and the direct and indirect promises law enforcement made to Appellant. R. 129, l. 21 – 130, l. 4. Defense counsel also stressed that Appellant was tired and under the influence of methamphetamine and narcotic pills, including Xanax, at the time he gave the written statements. He commented on the fact that Appellant stated he had been up for several days and argued that Appellant's "mental health was shaky at best." R. 126, ll. 13-23.

Furthermore, defense counsel argued that Appellant's statements on the recorded telephone calls show Appellant expected to be released based on his cooperation with the sheriff's office. He said, "Your Honor, he thought he was going to be released because he told the person on the phone, 'I'll be there in 20 minutes and I'll get a gram for you.'" Defense counsel also noted that Appellant told several of the individuals he called that night that if the guns were returned, "[A]ll of us will be cleared or we will be cleared." R. 128, l. 17 – 129, l. 24.

Additionally, defense counsel maintained, "[T]he deception in this case, Your Honor, was he [Appellant] thought that if he would make this drug deal, he was going to be hooked up, wired, and go out and make this drug deal with the person that he was talking to on that particular phone call. But at no time did the Sheriff's Office have any intention of letting him do that drug deal . . ." R. 129, ll. 8-19.

Based on the involuntariness of the statements, defense counsel argued the written statements should be suppressed.<sup>5</sup> R. 130, ll. 4-8.

---

<sup>5</sup> Defense renewed his motion and objection to the admissibility of Appellant's written statements before the statements were admitted into evidence and published to the jury. R. 253, l. 3 – 254, l. 3; See R. 261, ll. 1-2.

The solicitor argued that Appellant had been read his Miranda rights and “understood what he was doing. The officers said he seemed tired but that he did not seem high, did not seem under the influence, and I think his voice on that tape when he’s making these phone calls also shows that his, that he was not high.” The solicitor also claimed, “[I]n his statement, he minimizes his involvement, which again I submit shows he knew what he was doing when he was giving that statement.” Furthermore, the solicitor said, “Both officers have testified no promises were made. He was held out no hope for reward. He was not told that he could go home, that he wouldn’t be charged. He was not threatened, he was not coerced, that they didn’t tell him what to say. They left him alone in the room and let him write the statement, which he did, and his handwriting is legible and his signature is legible, and he gives details that only somebody involved in the crime would have known.” R. 122, l. 3 – 125, l. 5.

### **C. Court’s Ruling**

The court ruled that the written statements were admissible because it found “by a preponderance of the evidence that the Defendant was fully advised of his rights under the Fifth and Sixth Amendments” and subsequently “knowingly and intelligently waived his rights.” The court also found “that the alleged statements or confessions obtained from the Defendant were freely and voluntarily given without duress, without coercion, without undue influence, without reward, without promise or hope of reward, without promise of leniency, without threat of injury, without . . . inducement of any kind; it being the statement of the officers that no . . . promise or anything was made.” R. 133, l. 2 – 134, l. 23.

## Discussion

The trial court erred by admitting Appellant's written statements to law enforcement because under the totality of the circumstances, the statements were not freely and voluntarily given considering Appellant's mental state, his prior work as an informant for the sheriff's office, the length of his detention, the deception used by law enforcement, and the promises made by Sergeant McMahan that "he could help [Appellant] out," "implied [Appellant] would be released," and "implied that [charges] wouldn't be brought against [Appellant]." See R. 97, l. 23 – 98, l. 21.

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