ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal From Oconee County
The Honorable Alexander S. Macaulay, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2013-002328

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

TIMOTHY R. WIRTZ,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DEBORAH R.J. SHUPE
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General
SC Bar No. 5098

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

CHRISTINA T. ADAMS
Solicitor, Tenth Judicial Circuit

PO Box 8002
Anderson, SC 29622
(864) 260-4046

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

RECEIVED

DEC 11 2014

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal From Oconee County

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

ARGUMENT

I. There is ample evidence in the record to support the circuit court's determination Appellant freely and voluntarily gave two written statements regarding the burglary.

Appellant asserts the circuit court erred in admitting his written statements, arguing they were unlawfully obtained by deception, promises of leniency, and improper influence. Contrary to Appellant's assertion, the evidence amply supports the circuit court's ruling.

The admission of evidence is within the discretion of the trial court and will not be reversed absent an abuse of discretion, which occurs when the trial court's conclusions either lack evidentiary support, or are controlled by an error of law. State v. Pagan, 369 S.C. 201, 631 S.E.2d 262, 265 (2006). The trial court's factual conclusions regarding the voluntariness of a statement will not be disturbed on appeal unless so manifestly erroneous as to show an abuse of discretion, and the appellate court does not reevaluate the facts based on its own view of the preponderance of the evidence, but simply determines whether the trial court's ruling is supported by any evidence. State v. Saltz, 346 S.C. 114, 551 S.E.2d 240, 252 (2001); *see also* State v. Goodwin, 384 S.C. 588, 601, 683 S.E.2d 500, 507 (Ct. App. 2009) (same); State v. Miller, 375 S.C. 370, 652 S.E.2d 444, 448 (Ct. App. 2007) (same).

In South Carolina, the test for determining whether a defendant's confession was given freely, knowingly, and voluntarily focuses upon whether the defendant's will was overborne by the totality of the circumstances surrounding the confession. Courts have recognized appropriate factors that may be considered in a totality of the circumstances analysis: background; experience; conduct of the accused; age; maturity; physical condition and mental health; length of custody or detention; police misrepresentations; isolation of a minor from his or her parent; the lack of any advice to the accused of his constitutional rights; threats of violence; direct or indirect promises, however slight; lack of

education or low intelligence; repeated and prolonged nature of the questioning; exertion of improper influence; and the use of physical punishment, such as the deprivation of food or sleep. This list of factors is not an exclusive list. Moreover, no single factor is dispositive and each case requires careful scrutiny of all surrounding circumstances.

State v. Moses, 390 S.C. 502, 702 S.E.2d 395, 401 (Ct. App. 2010) (internal citations omitted). A statement may not be extracted by threats, violence, direct or implied promises, however slight, or the exertion of improper influence. Miller, 652 S.E.2d at 452. Statements induced by a promise of leniency are involuntary only if they are so connected with the inducement they were a consequence of the promise. *Id.*

This case essentially came down to a credibility determination between the two police officers present when Appellant gave the statements and Appellant. Both officers testified, **without qualification**, there were no promises or threats made to induce the statements.⁵ Appellant testified Inv. McMahan told him he could go home that night if he gave a statement saying he participated in the burglary and tried to get the guns back.

Appellant had extensive experience with the criminal justice system prior to February 2012, and clearly knew he was in serious trouble, as evidenced by his statement during one of the phone calls that he was facing sixty years in prison. The extraordinary aspect of his hearing testimony was his purported inability to recall major events from February 14, 2012, such as signing the Miranda waiver or writing the statements, but he had absolute clarity regarding how many Xanax pills he took that day and the alleged promise he could go home if he confessed and helped get the guns back. (HT, pp. 148-162; R., pp. 105-219).

⁵Appellant attempts to denigrate their testimony on this issue by referring to it as mere “claims.”

Appellant may have **hoped** his cooperation would help him. Other than his incredibly convenient memory, however, there is no evidence anyone promised it would have any impact on the charges he was facing.

Based on the testimony, the phone call recordings, and the statements, the circuit court found by a preponderance of the evidence Appellant freely and voluntarily gave the statements. The evidence supports the court's finding, and the jury ultimately determined the statements were voluntary beyond a reasonable doubt. The circuit court did not abuse its discretion in finding the statements were voluntary, and its ruling should be affirmed.

II. The circuit court properly determined the probative value of the audio recording of Appellant's telephone calls attempting to recover some of the stolen property outweighed any prejudice from admissions and drug related statements Appellant made during the calls.

Appellant contends the circuit court also erred in admitting the CD containing the phone call recordings, arguing the references to drug transactions constituted "unfair" prejudice substantially outweighing the recordings' probative value. His contention ignores the significant probative value of the phone calls on the voluntariness of his statements, as well as his knowledge of, and participation in, the criminal acts.

As a general rule, all relevant evidence is admissible. Rule 402, SCRE. "Relevant evidence" means evidence having any tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence," but relevant evidence may be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice. Rule 401, SCRE; Rule 403, SCRE.

The appellate court reviews a trial judge's decision regarding the comparative probative value and prejudicial effect of evidence for abuse of discretion, and is obligated to give great deference to the trial judge's judgment. State v. Collins, 763 S.E.2d 22, 27-28 (2014). The trial judge's decision "should be reversed only in exceptional circumstances." *Id.* (quoting State v. Adams, 354 S.C. 361, 580 S.E.2d 785, 794 [Ct. App. 2003]).

Corroborative evidence is evidence that tends to strengthen, confirm, or make more certain other evidence, and whether particular evidence corroborates other evidence is a question for the jury. State v. Pagan, 369 S.C. 201, 631 S.E.2d 262, 266 (2006).

When evidence is highly probative, corroborative, and material in establishing the elements of the offenses charged, its probative value outweighs its potential prejudice, and the appellate court should not invade the trial court's discretion in admitting it. Collins, 763 S.E.2d at 28.

In this case, the circuit court found some of the phone calls corroborated Appellant's statements, and went directly to his personal knowledge of the offenses. (HT, p. 181; R., p. 138). As the solicitor argued, Appellant stated in one call that he did not want someone else to "take the fall for something [Appellant] did," which constituted an admission of his involvement, and the people Appellant called were the ones to whom he admitted trading or selling the stolen guns. (HT, pp. 178-180; R., pp. 135-137).

Further, the recordings served to corroborate the police officers' testimony that Appellant was coherent, did not appear to be under the influence of anything, fully understood what he was doing when he waived his Miranda rights, gave the written statements, and made the phone calls. (TT, pp. 132-135, 240-241; R., pp. 246-249, 339-340). During the calls, Appellant's speech was clear, and he was able to quickly respond to things other parties brought up in the conversations.⁶ (State's Exhibit 4 [CD]).

As to drug transaction references during some of the calls, those references were included as a direct result of Appellant's insistence that the entire CD be played if any of it was played. (HT, pp. 74, 181; R., pp. 31, 138). Significantly, Appellant did not move to redact the drug references at either the suppression hearing, or when the CD was admitted during trial. (HT, pp. 178-181, TT, pp. 139-141, 164-165; R., pp. 135-138, 253-255, 278-279). On the contrary, he attempted to use the drug references as evidence he

⁶The clarity of Appellant's speech stands in stark contrast to the slurred and incoherent speech of some of the people he called.

made the calls to help law enforcement and in exchange for promises to let him go. (TT, pp. 220-221, 251, 363-364, 371-372; R., pp. 319-329, 350, 434-435, 442-443). Assuming for argument only it was error to admit the drug references, Appellant created it and he cannot complain. State v. Curtis, 356 S.C. 622, 591 S.E.2d 600, 605 (2004) (party cannot complain of an error which his own conduct created or induced).

Contrary to Appellant's assertion the contents of the phone calls indicating he knew who possessed the stolen guns constituted an improper basis for the jury to convict him of charges related to the burglary, such knowledge was at least strong circumstantial evidence of his involvement in the burglary itself, and was proper for the jury's consideration. Appellant's further assertion his attempts to make drug deals "may have made the jury more inclined to find him guilty of the [burglary related] charges" is speculative on its face. The jury was well aware Appellant was in police custody at the time, and he had been a paid narcotics informant in the past. The jury could readily conclude Appellant was saying anything to put the people he was trying to convince to return the stolen guns more at ease. As Inv. McMahan testified, Appellant was trying to get the guns back, and "he felt relaxed talking about drugs" in those efforts.

The phone call recordings were highly probative of Appellant's mental condition at the time he gave the written statements, as well as his involvement in the burglary. They also corroborated the police officers' testimony and portions of Appellant's statements. In the context of the trial, the drug references were tangential at best, and not unduly prejudicial to Appellant. The circuit court did not abuse its discretion in admitting the CD, and its ruling should be affirmed.